
CITY OF HILLSBORO 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 
Agenda – Regular Meeting - Tuesday, May 2, 2023, at 6:30 p.m. 
Zoom Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81338906250 
 

A.  Meeting Called to Order 

B. Approval of Consent Agenda 

1. Vouchers totaling $189,250.26 

2. Minutes for the April 18, 2023 Meeting 

C. Public Comment 

D. Request from Jacob Johnson, 304 N Birch, for a wedding fireworks display  

E. Darin Neufeld, EBH to present Capital Improvement Plan 

F. Business Items 

1. Ford Invoices totaling $2,261.97 

G. Discussion 

1. 2024 Budget Preliminary Discussion 

H. Executive Session:  For the purpose of preliminary discussion of the acquisition of real property 

pursuant to KSA 75-4319 (b)(6) for a period of 20 minutes. 

I. City Administrator’s Report 

J. Public Comments 

K. Council Comments 

L. Adjournment 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81338906250






























































Hillsboro, Kansas 
April 18, 2023 
 
1. The City Council met in regular session via Zoom and in person on Tuesday, April 18, 2023 at 6:30pm with 
Mayor Lou Thurston and Council members Blake Beye, Brent Driggers and Byron McCarty participating.  
 
Members Absent:  David Loewen.  
 
2. Others Participating:  Andrew Kovar, City Attorney; Matt Stiles, City Administrator; Danielle Bartel, City Clerk; 
Delaney Smith, Adams Brown; Kaleb Spencer, Water/Sewer Department.  
 
3. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Lou Thurston called the meeting to order at 6:30pm. 
 
4. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

MINUTES for the regular meeting dated April 4, 2023 as amended.  

VOUCHERS in the amount of $208,242.46. 

Council member McCarty motioned to approve the consent agenda. Council member Beye seconded. Motion 
carried.   
 
5. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  None 
 
6. PRESENTATION OF 2022 AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:  Delaney Smith, auditor from Adams Brown, 
presented the 2022 audit. She highlighted the unmodified opinion and noted one violation. She shared 
recommended changes to implement in the current year. Administrator Stiles and City Clerk Bartel provided 
background information and explanation on the violation and recommendations. Mayor Thurston thanked the 
auditors and staff for their good work. 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARING FOR ORDINANCE 1366 REGARDING DOG CONFINEMENT:  Mayor Thurston opened the 
public hearing for Ordinance 1366 regarding dog confinement. There were no public comments. The public 
hearing was closed.  
 
8. BUSINESS ITEMS  
 
CONSIDERATION OF ORDINANCE 1366 – DOG CONFINEMENT:  Administrator Stiles reviewed the ordinance for 
dog confinement and noted no changes have been made since the last meeting. Staff recommended adoption.  
 
Council member Driggers motioned to adopt Ordinance 1366 and authorize the mayor to sign. Council member 
Beye seconded. Motion carried 3‐0.  
 
REVISED QUOTE FROM JOHNSON SERVICE COMPANY FOR SEWER LINING TOTALING $257,075:  Administrator 
Stiles shared that Phase 1 and 2 of the sewer lining project have been completed and noted some of the lines 
the company had planned to line were already done. Because of this, the company was able to move to Phase 3 
along D Street. The company can add 1090 linear feet at a cost of $35 per foot. Kaleb Spencer of the 
water/sewer department provided an update on the project and shared his appreciation for Johnson Service 
Company’s staff.  
 
Council member Beye motioned to approve the quote for services from Johnson Service Company for the sewer 
lining project at a cost not to exceed $257,075. Council member McCarty seconded. Motion carried. 
 
CONSIDERATION OF A PURCHASE OF CHOLORINE DIOXIDE GENERATOR FROM D&F SERVICES LLC:  
Administrator Stiles explained the purpose for this purchase and reminded Council the city has received 
approval from KDHE for this to be part of the plant improvement forgivable loan.  
 
Council member McCarty motioned to approve the purchase of a chlorine dioxide generator from D&F Services 
at a cost of $58,750. Council member Beye seconded. Motion carried.  
 
LEASE PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH CENTRAL NATIONAL BANK:  Administrator Stiles noted the fire truck, 
tandem axle dump truck and sprayer have not yet been delivered, and therefore will need a separate lease 
agreement.  
 
Council member Beye motioned to adopt Ordinance 1368 to authorize a lease agreement with Central National 
Bank to purchase the Ventrac Mower & Deck and the 2014 Autocar Trash Truck. Council member McCarty 
seconded. Motion carried 3‐0. 
 



9. DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
MEETING ROOM RENTAL POLICY:  Administrator Stiles reviewed the proposed meeting room policy, noting the 
increase in fees and addition of the golf clubhouse. This policy would replace the 2010 policy.  
 
Council member McCarty motioned to approve Policy 100 regarding meeting room rentals. Council member 
Beye seconded. Motion carried.  
 
NEIGHBORHOOD REVITALIZATION PLAN:  Administrator Stiles shared several options that could be used to 
develop a NRP within the City of Hillsboro. He noted the city would need to pursue several interlocal 
agreements. A NRP could potentially help generate new housing within the city. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding the County NRP and the benefits of having a Neighborhood Revitalization Plan 
within city limits. The Council directed Administrator Stiles to work with the City Attorney to develop a plan to 
move forward with this process.  
 
Q1 STRATEGIC PLAN UPDATE:  Administrator Stiles provided an update on the City’s Strategic Plan for the first 
quarter of 2023. He highlighted the childcare facility transition, housing including some development near the 
elementary school, and workforce development. Administrator Stiles shared of significant progress at the splash 
pad and noted the 5th Grade Community Garden is moving forward again this year.  
 
Stiles shared that a CIP should be ready for the next Council meeting and noted the CIP fund does not need to be 
a budgeted fund in future years. Staff would like to review and revise the strategic plan this summer to ensure it 
continues to be a relevant document.  
 
10. CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT:  Administrator Stiles reported on the following: 

 Trinity Mennonite Deed Transfer 

 Ash Street Easter Fire 

 Financial Report 

 Safety Star Award 

 KPP Bill 

 Solar Grant with KPP 

 Senior Class Project Updates  
 
11. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  None. 
 
12. COUNCIL COMMENTS:  Council member Beye thanked the firefighters and first responders for their hard 
work on the Easter Sunday fire on Ash Street. Council member McCarty confirmed with staff that the golf 
clubhouse would be reserved on tournament days. Council member Driggers shared his excitement regarding 
the concrete poured for the splash pad. Mayor Thurston shared insights regarding solar energy and the 
possibility of Hillsboro using KPP resources to investigate solar as a backup option available during an outage in 
the future.  
 
13. ADJOURNMENT:  Council meeting adjourned at 7:42pm. 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
   _______________________________________  
    LOUIS THURSTON, MAYOR 
 
 
 _______________________________________  
  DANIELLE BARTEL, CITY CLERK  



City Code on Fireworks 
Excerpt Article 7, Sections 411 and 412 

7-411.          Days when fireworks may be discharged. 

(a)   Fireworks may be discharged on July 1, 2, and 3 between the hours of 10:00 A.M. and 11:00 
P.M.; on July 4 between the hours of 10:00 A.M. and 12:00 A.M.; and between the hours of 10:00 A.M. on 
December 31 and 1:00 AM. on January 1. 

(b)   Certain city-wide celebrations and community events may be exempted from this section by 
majority vote of the governing body of the City. In the event of exemption, such may be granted with time, 
place and manner restrictions as deemed advisable by said governing body, the City Police and the City 
Fire Chief. 

(Ord. 1130, Sec. 11; Code 2022) 

7-412.          Discharge of fireworks restricted. 

(a)   It shall be unlawful to discharge any fireworks within 100 feet of temporary stands, LPG, 
flammable liquid, or gas storage and dispensing units. 

(b)   It shall be unlawful to discharge any fireworks within 20 feet of any residence, dwelling or other 
structure. 

(c)   It shall be unlawful to discharge fireworks upon City property or upon public grounds without 
either the written approval of the City or the discharge of fireworks within city owned areas that may be 
designated as “open to the public” from time to time. 

(d)   It shall be unlawful to discharge fireworks at any time other than that allowed in 7-411. 

(e)   Due to the inherent risk of fire during exceedingly dry weather patterns, the City reserves the right 
to ban the discharge of fireworks within the city limits by resolution when necessary. 
 













PRELIMINARY 2024 BUDGET DISCUSSION
MAY 5, 2023



HILLSBORO 2023 PROPERTY TAXES: 183.61 MILLS

City, 42.621, 23%

County, 74.999, 41%

USD 410, 61.786, 34%

State, 1.5, 1% Extension, 2.704, 1%

City
County
USD 410
State
Extension



PROPERTY TAX IMPACT ON HOMEOWNERS

$438.54 $781.75 $648.28

$15.58

$22.55

$0 $200 $400 $600 $800 $1,000 $1,200 $1,400 $1,600 $1,800 $2,000

Average Home

City County USD 410 State Extension

Median Home Value in Hillsboro, $90,300
Total Property Tax Bill = $1,906.70



MILL LEVY COMPARISON
Marion County Communities

MN County Cities City Mill Levy

Hillsboro 42.621

Marion 72.305

Peabody 73.303

Burns 70.182

Durham 29.055

Florence 87.707

Goessel 61.533

Lehigh 80.917

Lincolnville 57.328

Peer cities
City City Mill Levy

Norton 64.851

Kingman 76.195

Osage City 57.030

MN County Cities City Mill Levy

Lost Springs 23.070

Ramona 105.570

Tampa 49.438



2024 BUDGET TIMELINE

 May

 Discuss Council priorities for 2024

 Begin drafting expenditure side of budget

 June

 Assessed valuation estimate and Revenue Neutral Rate (RNR) calculation will be provided by June 15

 June 20 – Review revenue estimates based on county data

 July

 First Meeting of July: Review the full draft budget, consider resolution for exceeding the revenue neutral rate (RNR) if necessary

 July 18 – Review draft budget with any changes from council, adopt RNR hearing (must be done before July 20)

 August 15 – Budget Hearing If we do NOT exceed the RNR

 September 5 – Budget and RNR Hearing if we DO exceed RNR



STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES

 Strategic Plan Tier 1 Goals: 

 Child Care

 Housing

 Workforce

 Strategic Plan Tier 2 Goals: 

 Community Development

 Financial Stability

 Public Safety



2024 PRIORITIES

 Continue to maintain mill levy under 43 mills

 Employee wages

 COLA and some merit-based incentive, either wage adjustment or bonus

 Need to consider some market increases for certain positions as well

 Continued effects of inflation and supply chain

 Senior Center Funding, Tabor CKEC Funding

 Continued equipment replacement as possible

 Capital Improvement Plan, how much to invest in improvements?

 Review utility rates in November 2023



Staff Report 
To: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

From: Matt Stiles, City Administrator 

Date: 5/2/2023 

Re: Executive Session for Preliminary Discussion of the Acquisition of Real Property 

 
 

Executive Session Motion  

I move that the City Council recess into executive session for the purpose of preliminary discussion of 

the acquisition of real property pursuant to KSA 75-4319 (b)(6) for a period of 20 minutes. The 

executive session will include the City Administrator and City Attorney. The open meeting will resume 

at __________. 



City Administrator’s Report 
May 2, 2023 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

KMU Conference: I attended the Kansas Municipal Utilities conference in Wichita on April 26-28. The 
conference featured several sessions on the Federal Infrastructure and Investment Jobs Act. There are 
many federal funding opportunities for rural areas, though many of those programs have yet to be 
determined. One program that promotes energy efficiency could potentially be used to install solar 
panels to offset the energy demand from the water plant. There are also several opportunities around 
electric vehicles, but it is unclear how effective it may be for us to consider those programs.  

BASE Grant: Attached is the denial letter for the second round of the BASE Grant program. This round 
there were 500 applications requesting over $2 billion in funding. The fire station proposal was denied 
during this round but will remain in subsequent rounds. However, I was told that there is a specific 
program coming for public safety infrastructure coming in a few months. On a side note, Peabody Main 
Street Association received $1.5 million for the revitalization of the historic downtown.  

Financial Report: Attached is the financial report for March. There are some larger expenses that were 
paid in March including the purchase of the trash truck and golf equipment. Loan proceeds for those 
items will be closed in May which will change the balance sheet for some accounts. We also had $50,000 
in water chemical costs, over several different orders, that were paid in March. March is also the first 
full month we had the revised electric rate in place. Staring with the April report we will include the 
dashboard report.  

Health Insurance Savings Report: Attached is the March insurance savings report from FCMI. The city’s 
health insurance plan has saved $56,901.76 for the 9 months of the plan compared to a fully- insured 
equivalent plan. The current claims reserve balance is $118.022.96. The plan year renews on July 1st, 
and meeting on renewals on May 2. As we discussed in the 2023 budget cycle we intend to increase the 
employee contributions for spouse, children and family plans to be back in line with the policy 
requirement that employees pay 50% of those premium differences.  

Sales Tax Report: The April distribution was $82,819.21. Overall collections are 14% above the same 
period for 2022. Historically 2022 was the best year on record for sales tax, totaling $1,028,095.88 in 
2022. As a budgetary note, the city dedicates the first $150,000 in sales tax revenue to the debt service 
fund. The $150,000 amount was surpassed in March.  



Department of Commerce 

1000 SW Jackson St Ste 100 

Topeka, Kansas 66612 
 

Phone: (785) 296-3481 

Fax: (785) 296-5055 

KansasCommerce.gov 

David C. Toland, Secretary   Laura Kelly, Governor 

 
April 26, 2023 
 
Matt Stiles 
City of Hillsboro 
 
Dear Matt:  
 
Thank you very much for your submission for grant funding through the SPARK Building a 
Stronger Economy (BASE) grant program. Throughout this process, it has become evident that 
there is a strong need to continue to support infrastructure development to address economic 
development opportunities across the state.   
 
More than 500 applications were received for the BASE program totaling over $2 billion in 
requests. With over $2 billion in requested funds and only $50 million in available funding, the 
level of funding could not match the enormous request of funds received for this program. 
Therefore, we are not able to fund every grant request received.  
 
All applications were reviewed and scored based on the information that was 
submitted. Unfortunately, your application was not selected in this round of grant 
awards.  Therefore, City of Hillsboro has not been approved to receive a BASE grant at this 
time.  
 
We will keep your application on file, and should additional funds be made available through the 
BASE grant program, your application will be reviewed for additional consideration.  
 
We wish your organization much success as you continue to navigate these unprecedented times. 
Should you have any questions, please email them to CommerceSPARK@ks.gov.   
 
Thank you, 

 
Jonathan Clayton 
Director of Economic Recovery 
Kansas Department of Commerce

mailto:CommerceSPARK@ks.gov




































































CITY OF HILLSBORO
SUMMARY OF SALES TAX RECEIVED

2022 AND 2023

Date Rec Collected In UT Pool ST Pool UT City ST City UT County ST County Total YTD Bal
1/18/2022 December 6,645.05$       21,192.84$    6,645.05$    21,192.84$    5,831.66$       14,045.39$    75,552.83$        75,552.83$        
2/22/2022 January 4,004.17$       21,805.18$    4,004.18$    21,805.18$    5,476.64$       16,088.48$    73,183.83$        148,736.66$      
3/30/2022 February 4,297.67$       21,717.05$    4,297.68$    21,717.05$    5,449.98$       14,560.95$    72,040.38$        220,777.04$      
4/29/2022 March 4,802.68$       21,901.36$    4,802.68$    21,901.36$    4,151.12$       13,180.56$    70,739.76$        291,516.80$      
5/25/2022 April 5,384.11$       42,865.43$    5,384.12$    42,865.44$    4,876.19$       22,025.62$    123,400.91$      414,917.71$      
6/22/2022 May 5,143.84$       26,674.70$    5,143.85$    26,674.70$    5,030.81$       16,788.49$    85,456.39$        500,374.10$      
7/22/2022 June 3,126.18$       25,428.52$    3,126.18$    25,428.52$    4,407.78$       16,595.43$    78,112.60$        578,486.70$      
8/29/2022 July 3,824.08$       29,607.00$    3,824.08$    29,607.00$    4,784.04$       18,751.56$    90,397.76$        668,884.46$      
9/29/2022 August 5,543.57$       32,706.30$    5,543.57$    32,706.30$    7,727.51$       21,184.92$    105,412.17$      774,296.63$      

10/26/2022 September 1,484.06$       25,703.31$    1,484.06$    25,703.32$    2,285.86$       15,820.11$    72,480.72$        846,777.35$      
11/23/2022 October 3,567.58$       29,960.64$    3,567.59$    29,960.65$    5,155.94$       19,793.09$    92,005.49$        938,782.84$      
12/30/2022 November 3,796.12$       28,896.03$    3,796.12$    28,896.03$    4,939.29$       18,989.45$    89,313.04$        1,028,095.88$   

Total Received 51,619.11$    328,458.36$  51,619.16$  328,458.39$  60,116.82$    207,824.05$  1,028,095.88$   

Date Rec Collected In UT Pool ST Pool UT City ST City UT County ST County Total YTD Bal
1/31/2023 December 4,359.08$       20,404.92$    4,359.08$    20,404.93$    6,381.08$       15,584.79$    71,493.88$        71,493.88$        
2/23/2023 January 4,443.55$       28,343.72$    4,443.55$    28,343.72$    13,932.82$    20,332.67$    99,840.03$        171,333.91$      
3/28/2023 February 3,435.44$       24,475.55$    3,435.44$    24,475.54$    6,955.54$       16,677.00$    79,454.51$        250,788.42$      
4/27/2023 March 4,667.10$       24,624.30$    4,667.10$    24,624.30$    8,086.59$       16,149.82$    82,819.21$        333,607.63$      

April 333,607.63$      
May 333,607.63$      
June 333,607.63$      
July 333,607.63$      
August 333,607.63$      
September 333,607.63$      
October 333,607.63$      
November 333,607.63$      
Total Received 16,905.17$    97,848.49$    16,905.17$  97,848.49$    35,356.03$    68,744.28$    333,607.63$      



Employee Tier
# of 

Employees

Illustrative 

Rates

Total 

Illustrative 

Rates

Umbrella 

Policy Rates

Total 

Umbrella 

Policy Rates

TPA Admin 

Fee

Monthly 

Medical 

Claims Paid

Monthly 

Rx Claims 

Paid

Risk 

Management 

Fee

Gross 

Savings of 

Freedom 

Choice

Net Savings 

of Freedom 

Choice

Single 10 641.78$       6,417.80$     362.54$       3,625.40$     520.00$      

Employee/Spouse 6 1,283.55$   7,701.30$     700.37$       4,202.22$     312.00$      

Employee/Child 2 1,123.11$   2,246.22$     664.04$       1,328.08$     104.00$      

Family 4 1,604.44$   6,417.76$     1,001.86$   4,007.44$     208.00$      

22 22,783.08$   13,163.14$   1,144.00$   1,148.89$   578.26$   674.88$        6,748.79$   6,073.91$  

Plan Year

City of Hillsboro

911280

Monthly Claims Analysis for FreedomChoice

March, 2023

FreedomChoice
Group Health Plan

Freedom  Claims Management, Inc

P.O. Box 1365

Great Bend, KS  67530

620‐792‐9151 ‐ Telephone

620‐792‐3389 ‐ Fax



# of 

Employees

Total 

Illustrative 

Rates

Total Umbrella 

Policy Rates

TPA Admin 

Fee

Monthly Medical 

Claims Paid

Monthly Rx 

Claims Paid

Risk 

Management 

Fee*

Gross Savings 

of Freedom 

Choice

Net Savings of 

Freedom 

Choice
July‐22 24 25,029.30$     14,491.22$     1,248.00$     865.54$             1,053.62$      737.09$         7,370.92$      6,633.83$      

August‐22 25 25,671.08$     14,853.76$     1,300.00$     1,088.72$          2,050.55$      637.81$         6,378.05$      5,740.25$      

September‐22 26 26,312.86$     15,216.30$     1,352.00$     1,423.44$          2,973.27$      534.79$         5,347.85$      4,813.07$      

October‐22 26 26,312.86$     15,216.30$     1,352.00$     2,716.39$          1,420.80$      560.74$         5,607.37$      5,046.63$      

November‐22 25 25,671.08$     14,853.76$     1,300.00$     657.09$             806.27$          805.40$         8,053.96$      7,248.56$      

December‐22 24 25,029.30$     14,491.22$     1,248.00$     379.46$             579.37$          833.13$         8,331.25$      7,498.12$      

January‐23 23 23,906.19$     13,827.18$     1,196.00$     ‐$                    6.50$              887.65$         8,876.51$      7,988.86$      

February‐23 22 22,783.08$     13,163.14$     1,144.00$     1,344.92$          621.54$          650.95$         6,509.48$      5,858.53$      

March‐23 22 22,783.08$     13,163.14$     1,144.00$     1,148.89$          578.26$          674.88$         6,748.79$      6,073.91$      

April‐23 0 ‐$                  ‐$                  ‐$               ‐$                    ‐$                ‐$                ‐$                ‐$                

May‐23 0 ‐$                  ‐$                  ‐$               ‐$                    ‐$                ‐$                ‐$                ‐$                

June‐23 0 ‐$                  ‐$                  ‐$               ‐$                    ‐$                ‐$                ‐$                ‐$                

223,498.83$   129,276.02$   11,284.00$   9,624.45$          10,090.18$    6,322.42$      63,224.18$    56,901.76$    

*Negative amounts in this column are not billed as such. Negative amounts will be billed as $0 Risk Management Fee.

Freedom  Claims Management, Inc

P.O. Box 1365 

Great Bend, KS  67530

620‐792‐9151 ‐ Telephone

620‐792‐3389 ‐ Fax

Group Health Plan

City of Hillsboro

911280

Monthly Claims Analysis for Freedom Choice

July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023

FreedomChoice


	Agenda 05-02-23.pdf
	2023.05.02 Vouchers for Approval $189,250.26 SCANNED
	2023.04.18 Council Minutes for Approval
	Fireworks Code
	2023.04 Hillsboro Ford Statement
	2024 Budget Discussion
	Preliminary 2024 Budget Discussion
	Hillsboro 2023 Property Taxes: 183.61 mills
	Property Tax Impact on Homeowners
	Mill Levy Comparison
	2024 Budget Timeline
	Strategic plan Priorities
	2024 Priorities

	2023.05.02 Executive Session Motion Property Aquisition
	To:
	From:
	Date:
	Re:

	Administrators Report 05.02.23
	Administrators Report 05.02.23.pdf
	BASE2_LetterofNotification.pdf
	2023.03 Financial Reports for Council SCANNED.pdf
	2023.04.28 Sales Tax Summary.pdf
	Sales Tax

	MAR2023-CITY OF HILLSBORO.pdf


